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EARLY	
  SETTLERS	
  	
  
	
  
First	
  Homesteader	
  -­‐	
  Capt.	
  John	
  L.	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  (1848)	
  
A	
  sea	
  captain	
  and	
  his	
  family	
  build	
  a	
  home	
  and	
  a	
  ranch	
  on	
  wooded	
  foothills	
  
overlooking	
  the	
  bay	
  at	
  Corte	
  Madera	
  in	
  1848	
  
	
  
Although	
  other	
  homesteaders	
  lost	
  their	
  lands,	
  one	
  settler’s	
  heirs	
  eventually	
  obtained	
  
clear	
  title	
  to	
  their	
  family	
  homestead	
  by	
  settling	
  with	
  the	
  speculators	
  for	
  $2,000	
  in	
  
gold	
  coin.	
  
	
  
That	
  homesteader	
  was	
  John	
  L.	
  Van	
  Reynegom,*	
  a	
  trader	
  and	
  sea	
  captain	
  from	
  Boston,	
  
who	
  brought	
  his	
  sailing	
  bark,	
  the	
  “Linda”,	
  around	
  Cape	
  Horn	
  in	
  1848.	
  Once	
  inside	
  San	
  
Francisco	
  Bay,	
  his	
  crew	
  jumped	
  ship	
  and	
  headed	
  for	
  the	
  gold	
  country.	
  
	
  
With	
  his	
  wife,	
  Margaret,	
  and	
  their	
  daughter,	
  Amelia,	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  beached	
  the	
  
“Linda”	
  on	
  the	
  Tiburon	
  Peninsula,	
  near	
  the	
  place	
  now	
  called	
  Paradise	
  Cay.	
  
	
  
Seeking	
  a	
  more	
  sheltered	
  spot,	
  the	
  three	
  of	
  them	
  walked	
  westward	
  to	
  the	
  wooded	
  
hillsides,	
  where	
  they	
  discovered	
  a	
  live	
  spring	
  at	
  the	
  foot	
  of	
  a	
  ridge.	
  There	
  the	
  captain	
  
built	
  a	
  simple	
  dwelling	
  and	
  established	
  a	
  small	
  farm.	
  
	
  
In	
  1861	
  he	
  filed	
  a	
  claim	
  for	
  160	
  acres	
  between	
  Mount	
  Tamalpais	
  and	
  the	
  bay,	
  
reaching	
  from	
  what	
  is	
  now	
  Chapman	
  Meadows	
  to	
  Baltimore	
  Canyon.	
  It	
  is	
  shown	
  on	
  
an	
  old	
  map	
  of	
  the	
  area	
  as	
  “Van	
  Reynagan	
  Ranch.”	
  
	
  
John	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  planted	
  vineyards	
  and	
  orchards,	
  and	
  had	
  a	
  stock	
  farm	
  large	
  
enough	
  to	
  have	
  his	
  own	
  registered	
  cattle	
  brand,	
  the	
  Lazy	
  5.	
  	
  He	
  built	
  a	
  reservoir	
  that	
  
was	
  subsequently	
  expanded	
  to	
  hold	
  85,000	
  gallons	
  of	
  water	
  drawn	
  from	
  the	
  spring	
  
on	
  his	
  land.	
  
	
  
Later,	
  the	
  captain	
  owned	
  and	
  operated	
  the	
  steamship	
  “Ida”,	
  carrying	
  milled	
  lumber,	
  
freight,	
  and	
  a	
  few	
  passengers	
  between	
  Corte	
  Madera	
  Creek	
  and	
  San	
  Francisco	
  three	
  
times	
  a	
  week	
  in	
  1860.	
  
	
  
But	
  earlier,	
  in	
  the	
  years	
  immediately	
  after	
  the	
  Van	
  Reynegoms’	
  arrival,	
  American	
  
settlers	
  were	
  still	
  relatively	
  few	
  in	
  the	
  Bay	
  Area,	
  and	
  the	
  well-­‐bred	
  Van	
  Reynegoms	
  
quickly	
  became	
  part	
  of	
  the	
  social	
  and	
  cultural	
  life	
  centered	
  at	
  the	
  U.S.	
  Army	
  Presidio.	
  
It	
  was	
  there	
  that	
  the	
  captain’s	
  daughter,	
  Amelia,	
  met	
  a	
  24-­‐year-­‐old	
  newspaperman	
  
named	
  Frank	
  Morrison	
  Pixley.	
  Writings	
  at	
  the	
  time	
  hint	
  of	
  a	
  long	
  but	
  rather	
  romantic	
  
courtship,	
  and	
  they	
  were	
  married	
  in	
  1853.	
  	
  	
  	
  
	
  
*The	
  name	
  is	
  shown	
  as	
  Reynegon,	
  Reynegom,	
  and	
  Reynagan	
  in	
  various	
  official	
  documents	
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Frank	
  M.	
  Pixley	
  &	
  Amelia	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  
	
  
When	
  Amelia	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  marries	
  Frank	
  Pixley	
  in	
  1853,	
  she	
  sets	
  the	
  
course	
  for	
  the	
  history	
  of	
  Corte	
  Madera	
  
	
  
Frank	
  Morrison	
  Pixley,	
  a	
  young	
  journalist	
  with	
  a	
  law	
  degree,	
  rode	
  into	
  the	
  west	
  from	
  
upper	
  New	
  York	
  state	
  on	
  a	
  mule	
  in	
  1848,	
  traveling	
  with	
  a	
  wagon	
  train	
  out	
  of	
  
Independence,	
  Missouri.	
  He	
  prospected	
  for	
  gold	
  on	
  the	
  Yuba	
  River	
  for	
  a	
  year,	
  then	
  
came	
  to	
  San	
  Francisco	
  to	
  practice	
  law.	
  
	
  
During	
  vigilante	
  days,	
  Pixley	
  was	
  elected	
  San	
  Francisco	
  City	
  Attorney	
  and	
  then	
  
elected	
  to	
  the	
  State	
  Assembly	
  before	
  advancing	
  to	
  the	
  office	
  of	
  State	
  Attorney	
  General	
  
in	
  1862.	
  He	
  held	
  a	
  seat	
  on	
  the	
  first	
  San	
  Francisco	
  Stock	
  Exchange	
  Board,	
  served	
  as	
  
Regent	
  of	
  the	
  University	
  of	
  California,	
  and	
  was	
  a	
  member	
  of	
  the	
  Yosemite	
  National	
  
Park	
  Board,	
  as	
  well	
  as	
  a	
  Trustee	
  of	
  the	
  State	
  Mining	
  Bureau.	
  
	
  
At	
  the	
  age	
  of	
  53,	
  Pixley	
  founded	
  a	
  literary	
  magazine,	
  the	
  San	
  Francisco	
  Argonaut,	
  
which	
  carried	
  the	
  writings	
  of	
  Mark	
  Twain	
  and	
  Ambrose	
  Bierce	
  among	
  others.	
  He	
  
published	
  and	
  edited	
  the	
  Argonaut	
  for	
  the	
  next	
  eighteen	
  years,	
  until	
  he	
  died,	
  and	
  the	
  
magazine	
  continued	
  to	
  be	
  published	
  until	
  1958.	
  
	
  

Historian	
  Bailey	
  Millard	
  said:	
  
Pixley	
  probably	
  exerted	
  a	
  more	
  commanding	
  influence	
  upon	
  the	
  public	
  mind	
  of	
  
California	
  in	
  his	
  time	
  than	
  any	
  other	
  man.	
  In	
  his	
  turn	
  he	
  was	
  a	
  lawyer,	
  miner,	
  
journalist,	
  politician	
  and	
  capitalist.	
  His	
  voice	
  was	
  heard	
  afar.	
  He	
  made	
  
and	
  unmade	
  men.	
  

	
  
Catharine	
  Pixley	
  Robson	
  wrote:	
  
In	
  an	
  age	
  when	
  San	
  Francisco	
  was	
  known	
  for	
  its	
  many	
  superlative	
  personalities,	
  
Frank	
  Morrison	
  Pixley	
  still	
  stands	
  out	
  as	
  a	
  man	
  of	
  exceptional	
  wit,	
  intellect,	
  
and	
  sophistication.	
  

	
  
Although	
  the	
  Pixleys	
  lived	
  in	
  a	
  fashionable	
  mansion	
  near	
  the	
  Presidio,	
  occupying	
  the	
  
block	
  bounded	
  by	
  Union,	
  Steiner,	
  Green,	
  and	
  Pierce	
  Streets,	
  they	
  often	
  retreated	
  to	
  
the	
  tranquility	
  and	
  ambience	
  of	
  the	
  rustic	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  ranch	
  in	
  Corte	
  Madera.	
  
	
   	
   	
   	
   	
  

	
  

In	
  1871,	
  land	
  speculators	
  representing	
  the	
  Reed	
  heirs	
  sued	
  to	
  
force	
  the	
  Van	
  Reynegoms	
  off	
  the	
  family	
  homestead.	
  Pixley	
  paid	
  
$2,000	
  in	
  gold	
  coin	
  to	
  buy	
  title	
  to	
  the	
  property,	
  and	
  he	
  also	
  
acquired	
  an	
  adjacent	
  parcel	
  of	
  30	
  acres.	
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After	
  Capt.	
  John	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  died	
  in	
  1878,	
  Amelia	
  and	
  Frank	
  took	
  over	
  the	
  ranch,	
  
and	
  they	
  gave	
  it	
  the	
  name	
  of	
  Owl’s	
  Wood.	
  There	
  were	
  several	
  other	
  families	
  living	
  on	
  
the	
  property,	
  most	
  of	
  them	
  employed	
  in	
  farming	
  and	
  taking	
  care	
  of	
  the	
  livestock.	
  
	
  
Amelia	
  usually	
  stayed	
  in	
  the	
  Pixleys’	
  San	
  Francisco	
  mansion,	
  while	
  Frank	
  Pixley	
  
enjoyed	
  Owl’s	
  Wood	
  as	
  a	
  retreat	
  where	
  he	
  composed	
  salient	
  commentary	
  for	
  the	
  
Argonaut.	
  
	
  
The	
  serenity	
  of	
  Owl’s	
  Wood	
  would	
  not	
  last,	
  however.	
  The	
  North	
  Pacific	
  Coast	
  Railway	
  
had	
  gained	
  permission	
  to	
  lay	
  tracks	
  across	
  the	
  land	
  in	
  1873,	
  and	
  the	
  County	
  of	
  Marin	
  
obtained	
  a	
  public	
  easement	
  to	
  legalize	
  the	
  long-­‐existing	
  dirt	
  road	
  linking	
  Sausalito	
  to	
  
San	
  Rafael,	
  which	
  crossed	
  through	
  the	
  fields	
  of	
  Owl’s	
  Wood.	
  
	
  
Increased	
  use	
  of	
  the	
  road	
  created	
  deep	
  ruts	
  that	
  filled	
  with	
  mud,	
  and	
  the	
  Pixleys’	
  
pasture	
  fences	
  were	
  repeatedly	
  taken	
  down	
  by	
  recreation	
  seekers.	
  Frank	
  Pixley’s	
  
niece,	
  Catharine	
  Pixley	
  Robson,	
  wrote:	
  
	
  

Picknickers,	
  being	
  hauled	
  through	
  the	
  farm	
  on	
  flatcars	
  for	
  cheap	
  railroad	
  
excursions,	
  pelted	
  Amelia’s	
  stock	
  with	
  rocks	
  and	
  bottles.	
  	
  Amelia	
  struggled,	
  
sometimes	
  almost	
  consenting	
  to	
  sell,	
  but	
  always	
  pulled	
  back.	
  

	
  
	
  
But	
  by	
  1891	
  the	
  aging	
  Pixleys	
  were	
  finding	
  it	
  difficult	
  to	
  manage	
  their	
  rustic	
  country	
  
estate.	
  Frank	
  Pixley	
  offered	
  Owl’s	
  Wood	
  for	
  sale	
  in	
  1891	
  at	
  the	
  price	
  of	
  $75,000.	
  
There	
  were	
  no	
  takers,	
  and	
  Pixley	
  died	
  four	
  years	
  later	
  without	
  having	
  made	
  a	
  sale	
  
and	
  without	
  a	
  child	
  to	
  inherit	
  the	
  estate.	
  	
  Before	
  his	
  death,	
  Pixley	
  transferred	
  the	
  title	
  
to	
  Owl’s	
  Wood	
  to	
  his	
  wife,	
  “to	
  safeguard	
  it	
  from	
  lawyers	
  and	
  unexpected	
  heirs.”	
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Corn	
  fields	
  at	
  Owl’s	
  Wood,	
  the	
  former	
  Van	
  Reynegom	
  ranch,	
  about	
  1890.	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
Looking	
  toward	
  Larkspur	
  across	
  the	
  fields	
  of	
  Owl’s	
  Wood,	
  about	
  1894.	
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